United States Court of Appeals
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FaccHina ConsTRucTION Co., INC.,
PETITIONER

V.

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD,
RESPONDENT

CARPENTERS REGIONAL CouNcIL BALTIMORE & VicINITY A/W UNITED BROTHERHOOD OF
CARPENTERS AND JOINERS OF AMERICA,
INTERVENOR

Consolidated with 05-1031

On Petition for Review and Cross-Application for Enforcement
of an Order of the National Labor Relations Board

Before RanpoLPH and GriFFITH, Circuit Judges, and EDwARDS, Senior Circuit Judge.

JUDGMENT

This cause was congdered on a petition for review and cross-application for enforcement of an
order of the National Labor Relations Board (“Board”) and was briefed and argued by the parties. It is

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the petition for review is denied, and the Board' s
cross-gpplication for enforcement is granted.

“We. . . uphold the judgment of the Board unless, upon reviewing the record as awhole, we
conclude that the Board' s findings are not supported by ‘ substantia evidence,’ 29 U.S.C. § 160(e),
(f).” Int'I Union of Electronic, Electrical, Salaried, Mach. & Furniture Workersv. NLRB, 41 F.3d



1532, 1536 (D.C. Cir. 1994). “We owe subgtantid deference to inferences drawn from the facts, to
choices of remedies, and, overal, to the reasoned exercise of the Board' s expert judgment.” Avecor,
Inc. v. NLRB, 931 F.2d 924, 928 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (citations and alteration omitted).

The Board had before it substantia evidence to support its finding that the Petitioner violated 88
8(a)(1) and (3) of the National Labor Relations Act (“NLRA”), 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1) and (3), by
discharging four employees for engaging in protected union activity. It is true that the Petitioner decided
to discharge nine employees before any protected conduct took place. The Board reasonably could
find, however, that the Petitioner’ s later choice of four particular employeesto discharge was based on
anti-union animus and that the Petitioner’ s proffered non-discriminatory explanation was pretextua. See
Tasty Baking Co. v. NLRB, 254 F.3d 114, 125-26 (D.C. Cir. 2001).

Subgtantid evidence supports the Board' s finding that the Petitioner violated 8 8(a)(1) of the
NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1), by interrogating ajob applicant about his union membership,
prohibiting employees from didributing union literature off company premises during nonworking time,
and telling employees that the Petitioner would have to discharge dl union carpenters.

Pursuant to D.C. Circuit Rule 36, this digposition will not be published. The Clerk is directed to
withhold issuance of the mandate herein until seven days after resolution of any timely petition for
rehearing or rehearing en banc. See Fed. R. App. P. 41(b); D.C. Cir. R. 41.
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